THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Bentley D. Price, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2016-CP-07-2541
Court of Appeals Appellate Case No. 2022-000231
Supreme Court of South Carolina Appellate Case No. 2025-000436

Forum Benefits, LLC,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

Brian Bannon and Assured Partners, NL,

Defendants – Petitioners.

BRIEF OF PETITIONERS

July 3, 2025

Jeffrey A. Lehrer (SC Bar No. 16687)
FORDHARRISON LLP
100 Dunbar Street, Suite 300
Spartanburg, SC 29306
Telephone: (864) 699-1100
Facsimile: (864) 699-1101
jlehrer@fordharrison.com
*Attorney for Defendants-Petitioners
Brian Bannon and AssuredPartners*

RECEIVED

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the Court of Appeals' Opinion incorrectly reversed the trial court's granting of a directed verdict on Respondent's breach of contract claim where the Court of Appeals:
 - A. appears to have adopted, as a matter of first impression, a lost document exception to the Statute of Frauds, despite the statute not providing a basis for any such exception; and
 - B. failed to provide any guidance as to the proof required for the lost document exception to apply and how such proof was present in the instant case sufficient to create an issue for the jury to decide.
2. Whether the Court of Appeals' Opinion incorrectly reversed the trial court's granting of a directed verdict on all of Respondent's claims where the Court of Appeals failed to consider the lack of any evidence of proximately caused damages and failed to consider the impact of Respondent's admissions that it did not know why the clients at issue moved their business to Petitioners?
3. Whether the Court of Appeals' Opinion incorrectly reversed the trial court's granting of a directed verdict on Respondent's breach of fiduciary duty claim where:
 - A. Respondent admitted that Bannon was an independent contractor with no contract;
 - B. there was no evidence presented to establish that Bannon owed Respondent a fiduciary duty; and
 - C. this is an issue of law that was to be decided by the trial court, not the jury.
4. Whether the Court of Appeals' Opinion incorrectly reversed the trial court's granting of a directed verdict on the Respondent's conversion claim where the Opinion is contrary to prior rulings of this Court, where the alleged property in question was solely intangible, electronic information, and where Respondent was never deprived access to the same information.
5. Whether the trial court properly applied its discretion in awarding prevailing party attorney's fees under the contract claim and awarding statutory fees under the Trade Secrets Act claim.
6. Whether the trial court properly applied its discretion in denying Respondent's motion for recusal and whether this issue needs to be addressed based on this Court's answers to the questions above.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner Brian Bannon (“Bannon”) began his employment with Respondent Forum Benefits, LLC (“Forum”) in 2009 as an insurance broker. (R. p. 106, lines 18-22). Forum’s first witness at trial was its attorney, David Wyatt (“Mr. Wyatt”), who testified that, at the request of Forum, he prepared a form employment agreement in 2009 that he believed Forum intended Bannon and another employee to sign (the “Employment Agreement”). (R. p. 62, lines 10-24). Bannon denied ever seeing or signing the Employment Agreement. (R. p. 145, line 11-p. 146, line 7). The Employment Agreement was in template form, was not signed, and contained no specific information pertaining to Bannon. Pl. Ex. 137; (R. p. 968).

Mr. Wyatt readily admitted he had no record of Bannon ever being sent, receiving or signing the document. (R. p. 77, line 21-p. 78, line 9; R. p. 82, lines 3-22). The Employment Agreement attached to the Complaint and marked as an exhibit at trial was missing at least the following material information: (1) Bannon’s name or any identifying information; (2) Bannon’s compensation, which was left blank; (3) the parties’ signatures; (4) Bannon’s duties (which were to be listed in Exhibit A to the Employment Agreement but never were); and (5) the explanation of benefits (which were to be listed in Exhibit B to the Employment Agreement but never were). (R. p. 968). The only employee-specific information that was contained in the Employment Agreement is a reference that the unnamed employee would work for Forum in Greenville, South Carolina – which was clearly not intended for Bannon who lived in Beaufort and who was hired to work in and actually worked in the Charleston, South Carolina area. Id.; (R. p. 78, line 10-p. 79, line 3). In addition to not being able to provide any evidence or testimony to remotely suggest that Bannon actually signed the Employment Agreement, Forum’s own attorney and first witness at trial admitted that Forum’s contract claim was barred by the Statute of Frauds. (R. p. 91, lines 3-20).

In May 2013, the relationship between Bannon and Forum changed significantly. Bannon ceased working as an employee for Forum and became an independent contractor for Forum. (R. p. 106, lines 18-22). Forum admitted at trial that at that point, the employment relationship terminated and a new independent contractor relationship began. (R. p. 591, lines 16-19). When this change in the relationship occurred, Bannon lost his access to employment benefits and equipment that were afforded to him previously and to other Forum employees. Id. There was never any agreement discussed, drafted or signed that governed Bannon's independent contractor relationship with Forum. (R. p. 593, lines 21-25).

During the time period that Bannon was an independent contractor for Forum, he sold employee benefits insurance to business clients. (R. pp. 104-107, 126-127). The insurance was provided through various insurance carriers and Bannon placed his clients with Forum for day to day benefits administration and servicing needs. (Id.) Some of Bannon's clients used a third-party web based software product called Employee Navigator for benefits administration. Employee Navigator compiled employee census data and insurance plan information for the employees of each client company. (R. p. 117, lines 10-25). The Employee Navigator information is known and available to both the client (whose employees the information is about) and the insurance carrier (who provides coverage for the individual policies selected by the employees), in addition to the insurance broker. (R. p. 447, lines 10-25). Further, the username and password for clients to access their Employee Navigator account belonged to the clients and Forum did not in any way restrict the clients with respect to said login information, nor did Forum in any way restrict the clients from using or providing the Employee Navigator username and password to other brokers, such as Bannon. (R. pp. 175-176, 418-423, 459).

On October 16, 2016 Bannon began working with Petitioner Assured Partners NL (“AssuredPartners”) as an insurance broker. (R. p. 218, lines 8-19). Many of Bannon’s clients chose to move with him to AssuredPartners. As a result, these clients consented to Bannon maintaining their insurance plan information, provided Bannon with their Employee Navigator login information, and requested that Bannon obtain copies of their census data and plan information to ensure continuity of representation and coverage. (R. pp. 175-176; pp. 281-282). Based on these clients’ requests to follow Bannon and for him to continue to be their insurance agent, Bannon took steps to protect his client’s insurance plan data during the transition to AssuredPartners. (R. pp. 263-269; p. 274, line 19-p. 275, line 8). He took these steps because he believed he had a legal duty to maintain his client files pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §38-43-250. (R. p. 262, line 2-p. 269, line 8). He also took these steps because he had specific information that Forum had a history of attempting to disrupt clients who attempted to leave its agency and did not want the same outcome for his clients. (R. p. 274, line 9-p. 278 line 8). Bannon’s concerns were grounded in fact: Forum admitted to denying clients access to their own plan information in the past when they gave notice that they were leaving Forum’s agency, and Forum also admitted that this could cause disruption to the clients. (R. p. 425, lines 9-13; p. 425 line 20-p. 441, line 14). Bannon also directly heard Forum’s President and owner Brian Stritt make statements that he wanted departing clients to be disrupted as they attempted to separate from Forum. (R. p. 276, line 12-p. 277, line 23).

Forum retaliated against Bannon when it learned that Bannon had taken steps to prevent Forum from disrupting the clients and from holding their information hostage to try to prevent them from leaving Forum’s agency. Despite not having any signed Employment Agreement with Bannon and despite Bannon not being an employee of Forum for over three years, on December

1, 2016, Forum sued Petitioners alleging a breach of contract, misappropriation of trade secrets, conversion, breach of fiduciary duty, and tortious interference.

Throughout the course of almost five years of litigation, Petitioners filed multiple motions for summary judgment, fully explaining the legal and factual inadequacies of Forum's claims. Despite this detailed notice of the extensive shortcomings of its claims, these motions never prompted Forum to ensure it had the necessary factual or legal basis to prove its claims at trial. The first summary judgment motions were heard by the Master-In-Equity, Marvin H. Dukes, III. The last motion for summary judgment Petitioners filed was heard by Judge Perry Buckner. However, Judge Buckner retired after hearing oral arguments on the motion, but before ruling on said motion. (R. pp. 558-559). Thereafter, a second judge, Judge Deadra L. Jefferson, denied Petitioners' motion with a Form 4 Order and provided no explanation for the denial other than citing the summary judgment standard and stating generally that material issues of fact exist. Id., see Form 4 Order of October 14, 2020.

On October 11, 2021, the jury trial in this matter commenced. (R. p. 57). At the beginning of the third day of trial, Forum asked the trial judge to recuse himself claiming that the trial judge was biased based on the fact that he knew a "potential" witness from college over 17 years prior. (R. pp. 465-479). This "potential" witness had been subpoenaed by Forum to testify on day two of trial, was never called by Forum to testify, and this "potential" witness was excused by Forum from the subpoena the day before Forum's motion for recusal. (R. p. 474, line 14-p. 475, line 4; p. 478, lines 20-25). Forum did not raise this issue when it first learned that the trial judge went to college with this "potential" witness and instead consented to the trial court saying hello to the "potential" witness during a break. After knowing this tenuous college connection, Forum proceeded to call witnesses in its case in chief. Notably, the witnesses Forum called later that day

ultimately provided very damaging testimony related to Forum’s claim. After finishing the second day of testimony and realizing that its case was going down in flames, Forum decided to attempt to recuse the trial judge the next day. The trial judge did not have any reason to know how the “potential” witness was related to the case or the relevancy of any potential testimony from this “potential” witness. (R. p. 469, lines 15-25). At the time of Forum’s motion for recusal, it was clear that the “potential” witness was not going to be called as a witness in Forum’s case because he had already been excused from the subpoena. (R. p. 474, line 14-p. 475, line 4; p. 478, lines 20-25). The trial judge properly denied the motion.

Later that third day, Forum rested its case. (R. p. 619, line 6). After Forum rested its case, Petitioners moved for directed verdict on all counts.¹ (R. p. 627, line 25-p. 683, line 25). The trial court took the issue of directed verdict under advisement since it was the end of the day. (R. p. 683, line 25). The next day, day four of trial, the trial court granted Petitioners’ directed verdict motion. (R. pp. 684-687). The trial court also found that Forum brought its misappropriation of trade secrets claim in bad faith and awarded Petitioners’ attorneys’ fees and costs under the South Carolina Trade Secrets Act. (R. p. 689, line 10-p. 690, line 5). As an additional basis for awarding attorneys’ fees and costs, the trial court further found that Bannon was the prevailing party under the language in the alleged contract. Id.

Forum appealed the trial court’s rulings to the Court of Appeals of South Carolina. The Court of Appeals issued its unpublished Opinion in this case on December 11, 2024. Forum Benefits, LLC v. Brian Bannon and Assured Partners, NL, Unpublished Opinion No. 2024-UP-412 (S.C. Ct. App. dated December 11, 2024). Petitioners timely filed and served a Petition for Rehearing. The Court of Appeals denied the Petition for Rehearing by Order dated February 7,

¹ Forum voluntarily dismissed its tortious interference claim during the directed verdict arguments. (R. p. 673, line 24-p. 674, line 2).

2025. Forum Benefits, LLC v. Brian Bannon and Assured Partners, NL, Case No. 2022-000231 (S.C. Ct. App. dated Feb. 7, 2025). Petitioners filed a Petition for a Writ of Certiorari on March 7, 2025. Forum filed a Return to Forums' Petition on April 3, 2025. Petitioners filed a Reply to Forum's Return on April 14, 2025. This Court granted Petitioners' Petition on June 3, 2025. This Brief of Petitioner timely follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

For issues 1, 2, 3, and 4, this Court should apply the same standard as the trial court. Gadson ex rel. Gadson v. ECO Services of South Carolina, Inc., 374 S.C. 171, 175, 648 S.E.2d 585, 588 (2007). The Court views the evidence and the inferences that reasonably can be drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the party opposing the motion. Hurd v. Williamsburg County, 363 S.C. 421, 426, 611 S.E.2d 488, 491 (2005). Where the trial court must determine issues as a matter of law, such as whether a legal duty exists, this Court should review questions of law under a *de novo* standard. Town of Summerville v. City of N. Charleston, 378 S.C. 107, 110, 662 S.E.2d 40, 41 (2008).

For issue 5 and 6, related to the award of attorneys' fees and denial of motion for recusal, this Court should apply an abuse of discretion standard. See e.g. Blumberg v. Nealco, Inc., 310 S.C. 492, 493, 427 S.E.2d 659 (1993) (finding that a trial judge's decision to award attorneys' fees will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion). The appellate courts should not reverse the trial court unless it is based on an error of law or is without any evidentiary support. See Gooding v. St. Francis Xavier Hosp., 326 S.C. 248, 252, 487 S.E.2d 596 (1997).

ARGUMENT

- 1. THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN REVERSING THE TRIAL COURT'S GRANTING OF A DIRECTED VERDICT ON FORUM'S BREACH OF CONTRACT CLAIM BECAUSE, *INTER ALIA*, THIS CLAIM IS BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF FRAUDS.**

Directed verdict was proper on Forum's breach of contract claim based on the Statute of Frauds. To prove a breach of contract claim, a plaintiff must prove by a preponderance of the evidence "the existence of a contract, its breach, and damages caused by such breach." S. Glass & Plastics Co. v. Kemper, 399 S.C. 483, 732 S.E.2d 205, 209 (Ct. App. 2012). Forum failed to present evidence to establish any of these elements. However, the most glaring failure of evidence was Forum's inability to overcome the legal impact of the Statute of Frauds. This is because no signed contract exists in the instant case and the form document Forum produced has blanks which do not include all the material terms. Thus, there are only two possible outcomes here: (1) the Statute of Frauds bars Forum's contract claim as the trial court ruled, or (2) this Court should for the first time address the issue of a lost document exception to the Statute of Frauds and how such an exception could apply to the instant case.

There is no dispute that the Statute of Frauds applies in this case. Forums admit that it has never produced and cannot produce a contract signed by Bannon. (R. p. 968). Bannon has at all times denied signing any contract. (R. p. 145, line 11-p. 146, line 7). Rather, the only document Forum produced was an unsigned, blank form document that does not even include Bannon's name, or any specifics related to his employment (the form document contains many blanks). (R. p. 968). Forum has also admitted this. (R. p. 77, line 21-p. 78, line 9; R. p. 82, lines 3-22). There is no factual dispute that the alleged contract could not be performed in one year because it contained two-year restrictive covenants. (R. p. 44.) Forum has also admitted this. (R. p. 91, lines 3-20.) Accordingly, there is no dispute that the Statute of Frauds applies to bar Forum's contract claim. There is also no exception to the Statute of Frauds contained within the statute itself that would apply to the facts of this case.

Because of these undisputed facts, the only potential way this claim could have been submitted to a jury was a judicially created lost document exception to the Statute of Frauds. The trial court refused to adopt such an exception and *no South Carolina court has ever adopted such an exception*. The Court of Appeals in the instant case may have adopted this exception in reversing the trial court, but its Opinion does not clearly address this issue or provide any analysis of the exception or how it applied to this case. While the Court of Appeals has indirectly discussed the “potential” application of such a doctrine in Yadkin Valley Bank & Tr. v. Oaktree Homes, Inc., 2014 WL 3747342 (S.C. Ct. App. July 30, 2014), in that case the Court of Appeals ruled that it was not adopting the exception, but that even *if* it did adopt it, there was not sufficient evidence to satisfy such an exception in that case. The Yadkin Court ruled that even if a lost document exception were adopted in South Carolina, it would require the party seeking to establish the contract to provide more than self-serving or contradictory evidence and that such party must meet a clear and convincing evidence standard, not a preponderance of the evidence standard. Id.

This Court should not adopt a lost document to the Statute of Frauds. Nothing in the statute allows for such an exception. In fact, the Legislative intent related to the Statute of Frauds is contrary to a lost document exception. The Legislature considered exceptions to the Statute of Frauds when adopting the statute. In doing so, the Legislature adopted some very limited exceptions, none of which open the door for a lost document exception. One of the statutory exceptions contemplates the need for an opposing party’s admission that a contract was made (“a contract which does not satisfy the requirements of [the Statute of Frauds] but which is valid in other respects is enforceable ... if a party against whom enforcement is sought admits in his pleading, testimony or otherwise in court that a contract was made”). S.C. Code Ann. 36–2–201(3)(b). This exception by its very nature requires an opposing party admission related to the

existence of a contract, which is consistent with the intent of the Statute of Frauds. However, this is not present here as Bannon has consistently denied signing an Agreement. (R. p. 145, line 11- p. 146, line 7). The Legislature specifically considered exceptions to the Statute of Frauds and did not provide for (or open the door to) a judicially created lost document exception where the party against whom enforcement is sought denies the existence of any contract. Because there is no support in the Statute of Frauds or in the Legislative history for a lost document exception, and because a lost document exception is not consistent with other exceptions in the statute, this Court should reject such an exception, reverse the Court of Appeals, and affirm the trial court on this issue.

Even if this Court decides to officially adopt a lost document exception to the Statute of Frauds, it should at a minimum require clear and convincing evidence to support the exception and not permit self-serving testimony from an individual (who has a financial interest in the outcome of the case) to support the exception. If such clear and convincing evidence is required to establish the exception, then the trial court was correct in ruling that Forum did not present sufficient evidence to meet this standard.

It is undeniable that the only person who alleges that Bannon signed an employment agreement is Brian Stritt. (R. pp. 502-5007). Mr. Stritt's testimony is biased and self-serving, considering he was the President of Forum and was the sole owner at the relevant time. (R. p. 441, lines 9-14). He is also funding the litigation for Forum and is the only person responsible for paying Petitioner's legal fees awarded by the trial court. (R. 586.)

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