RECEIVED

Aug 11 2025

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT**

S.C. SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
Bentley D. Price, Circuit Court Judge

Circuit Court Case No. 2016-CP-07-2541
Court of Appeals Appellate Case No. 2022-000231
Supreme Court of South Carolina Appellate Case No. 2025-000436

Forum Benefits, LLC,

Respondent,

v.

Brian Bannon and Assured Partners, NL,

Petitioners.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Timothy D. St.Clair (SC Bar # 5297)
Parker Poe Adams & Bernstein LLP
110 East Court Street, Suite 200
Greenville, SC 29601

Tasneem A. Dharamsi (SC Bar # 104868)
Parker Poe Adams & Bernstein LLP 301
Fayetteville Street, Suite 1400

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

ARGUMENTS

Like the mess made of this case by the trial court, Petitioners’ brief is filled with blunders:

- They leave unchallenged a key ruling by the Court of Appeals decision;
- They argue about a statute of frauds, but point to the wrong statute;
- They argue about the trial court’s refusal to recuse, but never raised that issue in their Petition to this Court for writ of certiorari; and
- They otherwise fail to present any special or important reason for review by this Court, continue to argue about the weight of evidence, and demonstrate repeatedly that they have learned nothing from the earlier extensive briefing in this action.

These, and other aspects of the case, will be addressed individually below.

At the end, the Court of Appeals’ decision should be affirmed.

I. Trade Secrets

The Court of Appeal’s *per curiam* reversal was direct and to the point:

As to whether the trial court erred in granting a directed verdict, we conclude that the trial court did err because the evidence presented at trial yields more than one reasonable inference. In particular, we note Forum adduced evidence subject to more than one reasonable inference as to the following: the nature of the trade secrets and measures in place to protect their secrecy;

The evidence and the law show that the Court of Appeals was indisputably correct.

A. The Ruling is Unchallenged

Nothing in Petitioners’ brief challenges this ruling by the Court of Appeals or offers any basis for a reversal. Petitioners even admit that they have not challenged this finding, nor did they include this finding in their Request for Rehearing at the Court of Appeals. (Petitioners’ Brief, p. 25, footnote 4; R. pp. 2692-2715); *see* Rule 242(d)(1) SCACR (“Only those questions raised in the Court of Appeals and in the Petition for rehearing shall be included in the petition for writ of certiorari as a question presented to the Supreme Court.”); *see also Mazloom v. Mazloom*, 392 S.C. 403, 403, 709 S.E.2d 661 (2011) (an issue not raised in a petition for rehearing is the law of the case). At Petitioners’ own hand, it is not up for review by this Court.

Accordingly, for this reason alone, the Court of Appeals' reversal of the trial court should be sustained and the case remanded.

B. The Court of Appeals' Ruling is Correct

The trial court's directed verdict ruling that "Forum Benefits wholly and completely failed to prove the existence of any trade secret information" ignores substantial evidence of the form, value, and availability of Respondent's trade secrets and impermissibly decides disputed questions of fact.

1. Respondent designed the build-out of each Employee Navigator account, collecting, organizing, and compiling employee census data and insurance plan information that populated each account.

Laurie Winston, Respondent's Director of Account Management, described in detail Respondent's proprietary design and build-out of Employee Navigator accounts for each client, as well as Respondent's collection, organization, and compilation of employee census data and insurance plan information included in this proprietary database. (R. pp. 356-359; 378-386; 390-396). She also described in detail Respondent's proprietary formulas included in the renewal spreadsheets for each client stored on Respondent's SharePoint server. (R. pp. 378-386; 390-396). Respondent's proprietary information, taking the form of "a design," "a compilation," and "formulas," are explicitly enumerated in the definition for a "trade secret" provided by the S.C. Trade Secrets Act and are therefore *de facto* trade secrets. See S.C. CODE ANN. § 39-8-20(5)(a)..

Winston testified that Respondent's trade secrets took substantial time and effort to collect, organize, and compile and provided Respondent with a competitive advantage and improved efficiency in administering benefits for clients and negotiating rates with insurance providers. (R. pp. 356-359; 378-386; 390-396). The S. C. Trade Secrets Act specifies that even "simple fact[s], item[s], or procedure[s]," when they confer competitive advantage and improved efficiency, are

the types of economic value that are protected. *See* S.C. CODE ANN. § 39-8-20(5)(b). And Assured Partners gained that economic value and saved that time, by downloading, copying, and taking screenshots of Respondent’s trade secrets instead of having to tediously design, build-out, collect, organize, and compile the same database of information.

A compilation of information can constitute a trade secret if the information (1) “derives independent economic value;” (2) is not “generally known” or “readily ascertainable by proper means;” and (3) is kept secret using reasonable efforts under the circumstances. S.C. CODE ANN. § 39-8-20(5). A trade secret may simply be a compilation of publicly available data, because “[t]he collective effect of the items and procedures must be considered in any analysis of whether a trade secret exists and not the general knowledge of each individual item or procedure.” *Id.* The foregoing evidence, introduced at trial, supported each of these elements and precluded a directed verdict.

2. The evidence of record provides evidence of the value of Respondent’s trade secrets to Assured Partners.

Respondents acted rapidly, urgently, and surreptitiously to take Respondent’s trade secrets before Respondent learned that Bannon was working for Assured Partners and terminated further access. (R. pp. 174-175; 247; 274-275). James Brady, former Director of BeneSolve, a wholly owned subsidiary of AssuredPartners, even testified, consistent with his November 8, 2016 email, that he could not build an Employee Navigator account for a client without login credentials that would allow him to download, copy, and take screenshots of Respondent’s Employee Navigator account for that client. (R. pp. 760-765; 448-450). Multiple emails (e.g., Plaintiff’s Exhibits 8, 10-12, and 45) confirm that Assured Partners’ acquisition of Respondent’s trade secrets from the Employee Navigator accounts was critical to convincing clients that the transition from Forum Benefits to Assured Partners would be seamless, and ultimately, convincing them to make the

move, (R. pp. 749-750; 756-759; 760-765; 766-768; 817-823; 186; 190-194; 444-447). All this evidence demonstrates the substantial economic value of Respondent's trade secrets to Respondents.

3. Respondent granted access to its trade secrets to only authorized personnel with valid login credentials.

Respondent only provided login credentials to its proprietary database of information in the Employee Navigator accounts to account managers assigned to those accounts and, on a case-by-case basis, a single client representative if a client requested the ability to generate reports from the Employee Navigator account associated with that client. (R. pp. 387-389). Respondent did not provide sales people, like Mack Ward and Bannon, with any login credentials to any of its Employee Navigator accounts. (R. pp. 387-389). Respondent only provided login credentials to Respondent's SharePoint server to nine full-time employees. (R. pp. 138-139; 387-389; 397). When an individual ceased to be a Respondent employee, all access to these computer systems was promptly cut off. (R. pp. 508- 509).

Thus the evidence and the law show that the Court of Appeals was correct.

II. Statute of Frauds

Petitioners' focus on the breach of contract cause of action centers on their argument about the statute of frauds. Indeed, Petitioners' "Statement of the Case" revolves around the statute of frauds.

Petitioners then spend seven pages of the real estate of their brief (Petitioners' Brief, pp. 13 – 19) arguing about the statute of frauds, but point to the wrong statute.

Petitioners cite to S.C. CODE ANN. § 36–2–201(3)(b). (Petitioners' Brief, p. 14). That is a statute of frauds, alright. No doubt about it. No one can dispute that. Maybe there is brilliance

here by Petitioners that is lost on Respondent but, if not, the code section cited by Petitioners is a statute of frauds in the UCC dealing with the sale of goods that has no bearing on this case.

The applicable statute of frauds, S.C. CODE ANN. § 32-3-10, (a) is never cited by Petitioners and (b) does not support reversal of the Court of Appeals, for the following reasons.

A. The Statute of Frauds Issue Need Not Be Reached

Petitioners' sole challenge to any issue even remotely bearing on the substantive merits of the trade secret issue is its argument regarding Respondent's breach of contract cause of action, which was the Fourth Cause of Action asserted in the Complaint. (R. p. 38).

But Petitioners raise no argument about Respondent's Third Cause of Action – Violation of South Carolina Trade Secrets Act.

Petitioners' attack on the breach of contract claim presumably is caused by the contract's restrictive covenant against disclosing trade secrets. But Respondent's trade secret cause of action is not dependent on the existence or not of the contract. More specifically, it is sufficient that Petitioners' duty not to misappropriate Respondent's trade secrets arose from statute,

“(B) Every employee who is informed of or should reasonably have known from the circumstances of the existence of any employer's trade secret has a duty to refrain from using or disclosing the trade secret without the employer's permission independently of and in addition to any written contract of employment, secrecy agreement, noncompete agreement, nondisclosure agreement, or other agreement between the employer and the employee.”

S.C. CODE ANN. § 39-8-30 (double underlining emphasis added).

Petitioners have not addressed this point in the least. The Court of Appeals having reversed the trial court on it, at least that much of Respondent's case should be remanded, with no need to reach Petitioners' Statute of Frauds argument.

B. S.C. CODE ANN. § 32-3-10 Does Not Apply to this Case

The Statute of Frauds that should have been cited by Petitioners, S.C. CODE ANN. § 32-3-10 (2024), provides: “No action shall be brought whereby ... (5) To charge any person upon any agreement that is not to be performed within the space of one year from the making thereof; ...” (underlining emphasis added).

Our courts have aided our understanding of this statute:

- “[T]he Statute of Frauds applies only to contracts which are impossible of performance within one year.”¹
- “The South Carolina Supreme Court has long espoused the understanding that whether a contract is capable of full performance within a year is dictated *solely* by the terms of the agreement itself and not outside circumstances, whether they be expectations, projections, or reality. *See, e.g., Joseph v. Sears Roebuck & Co.*, 224 S.C. 105, 112, 77 S.E.2d 583, 586 (1953) (recognizing the long-standing principle that the “clause of the statute extends only to such promises where, *by the express appointment of the part[ies]*, the thing is not to be performed within a year” and “a note in writing is not necessary, unless it appears *from the agreement* that it was to be performed after the year”).²
- “The fact that performance within a year is highly improbable or not expected by the parties does not bring a contract within the scope of this clause.”³
- “The critical question when determining whether the Statute of Frauds applies is not what the probable, or expected, or actual performance of the contract was, but whether the contract, according to the reasonable interpretation of its terms, required that it should not be performed within the year.”⁴

¹ *Roberts v. Gaskins*, 486 S.E.2d 771, 774, 327 S.C. 478, 484 (S.C. Ct. App. 1997) (double underlining emphasis added), *citing Joseph v. Sears Roebuck & Co.*, 224 S.C. 105, 77 S.E.2d 583 (1953); *Floyd v. City of Spartanburg*, No. 7:20-cv-02558-TMC, 2022 WL 796819 (D.S.C. Mar. 16, 2022).

² *Floyd, supra* at *4 (italicized emphasis in original).

³ *Joseph, supra*, 224 S.C. at 111, 77 S.E.2d at 586.

⁴ *Floyd v. City of Spartanburg*, 2022 WL 796819, at *4 (D.S.C. Mar. 16, 2022) (double underlining emphasis added).

- “If there is a possibility of performance within a year, the contract is not barred by the Statute of Frauds.”⁵

Measured by these standards, the question for this Court is this: Have Petitioners shown, to a legal certainty on directed verdict, that Brian Bannon’s employment contract, dictated solely by the agreement itself and as required by its terms, was not just improbable or unexpected but was *impossible*⁶ to perform within one year?

The answer to this question is, “no,” and the contract itself, presented in the Appendix at R. pp. 968 – 974, shows that Petitioners’ position fails. The agreement contained no set term, much less a term greater than one year. Provisions pertinent to this appeal were Paragraphs 4 and 7.

Paragraph 4 – “Term: This agreement ... shall continue until the Employee quits or is removed in accordance with this Agreement.”

Paragraph 7 – “Termination. The Employee is an employee at will and the Company may terminate this agreement and the Employee’s employment for any reason or for no reason at any time. Concomitantly, the Employee may resign from employment at any time, for any reason or for no reason.... Termination by either party does not affect Employee’s obligations in Paragraphs 12 [Covenant Not to Disclose Trade Secrets and Confidential Information], 13 [Covenant Not to Solicit Customers], and 14 [Covenant Not to Solicit Employees] below.”

⁵ *Roberts*, 486 S.E.2d at 774, 327 S.C. at 484 (double underlining emphasis added).

⁶ Borrowing from other parts of contract law, impossibility and impracticability have specific meanings as defenses to non-performance. As to impossibility, “[a] party to a contract cannot be excused from performance on the theory of impossibility of performance unless it is made to appear that the thing to be done cannot by any means be accomplished, for if it is only improbable or out of the power of the obligor, it is not deemed in law impossible.” *Buck Invs., LLC v. ROA, LLC*, No. 2018-001729, 2023 WL 4105398, at *4 (S.C. Ct. App. June 21, 2023) (internal quotations and citations omitted). The defense of impracticability, which has been held in other jurisdictions to excuse performance when “strict performance would be abjectly unfair or unreasonable,” has not been accepted by South Carolina. *Morin v. Innegrity, LLC*, 424 S.C. 559, 569, 819 S.E.2d 131, 137 (Ct. App. 2018). Here, it may have been unplanned that Bannon’s employment would end within a year, but it was by no means impossible.

Thus Bannon's employment contract did not require he work beyond a year, a month, or even one day. Nothing in the terms of the agreement made it improbable or unexpected either that he would leave within a year or be fired within a year, much less that his work was impossible to perform within a year.

Petitioners argue, "There is no factual dispute that the alleged contract could not be performed in one year because it contained two-year restrictive covenants." (Petitioners' Brief, p. 13).⁷ But such an interpretation is inconsistent with the existing jurisprudence construing S.C. CODE ANN. § 32-3-10. This Statute of Frauds has been understood in South Carolina for decades to apply only to contracts that are impossible of performance within one year. And it is not a legal impossibility for Brian Bannon to have complied with this restrictive covenant within a year: he might have died within that first year. However unexpected or improbable his death might have been, it was not impossible, and having died within the first year of the agreement there would have been nothing left for him to do under the agreement and nothing upon which his failure to act that would support a lawsuit.

Urging such an understanding of the Statute of Frauds is not opportunistic argument by Respondent – it appears to be the prevailing view in other jurisdictions that, like South Carolina, narrowly apply the Statute. See Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 130 (1981), Comment b: "Discharge by death of the promisor may be the equivalent of performance in case of a promise to forbear, such as a contract not to compete." See also *Id.*, illustration 9:

"A sells his grocery business to B, who pays part of the price and promises to pay the balance in a month, A agreeing orally not to engage in the grocery business in

⁷ In addition to all of their other blunders, Petitioners get even this point wrong. In point of fact, David Wyatt and Brian Stritt provided testimony, corroborated by Plaintiff's Exhibits 137 (R. pp. 968-974) and 163 (R. pp. 975-982), that paragraph 12 of the employment agreement signed by Bannon included covenants not to disclose Respondent's trade secrets and confidential information and that these covenants were unlimited in duration. (R. pp. 968-974; 60-75).

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